
 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION 
Tuesday, June 21, 2016, 7:00 PM 

The Forum, 100 State Street 
 

1. Roll Call 

 

2. Minutes of the May 17, 2016 Meeting 

 

3. Public Comments 

 

4. Scott Schneider (City of Beloit) - Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-19 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to construct a new 

garage, replace the front porch, construct an addition, and perform an overall rehabilitation of the 

residential structure located at 310 Euclid Avenue. 

 

5. David and Deborah Amstutz – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-16 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to construct a 

storage shed on the residential property located at 710 Bluff Street. 

 

6. Harold Pann – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-17 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to rehabilitate the 

front porch, including the floor, railings, and steps, on the residential structure located at 825 Park 

Avenue. 

 

7. Matthew Ruch – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-15 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to rehabilitate the 

garage, install storm windows, and perform various other repairs on the residential structure 

located at 822 Park Avenue. 

 

8. Susan Behrens – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-14 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to demolish the 

residential structure located at 627 Church Street. 

 

9. Report on Staff-Approved Certificates of Appropriateness & Activities Since Last Meeting 

 

 

 



10. Committee Reports 

 A. Education & Outreach Committee 

 B. Grant Writing Committee 

 C.  Site Visit Committee 

 

11. Items for Future Agendas 

 

12. Adjournment 
 
If you are unable to attend this meeting, notify the Planning Office at 364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM 
the day before the meeting. 
    
Approved: Alex Morganroth, Planner 
   June 9, 2016 
 
**  Please note that upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of 
disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please 
contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511. 



 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION 

Tuesday, May 17, 2016, 7:00 PM 
The Forum, 100 State Street 

 

1. Roll Call 

 Commissioner Blazer called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. 

 Commissioners Blazer, Truesdale, Vater, Johnson, Vollmer, Kaye and Sloniker were present. 

 Commissioner Joyce was absent. 

 

2. Minutes of the March 15, 2016 Meeting 

Commissioners Vater and Johnson moved to approve the minutes. Motion carried, 7-0.  

 

3. Public Comments: John Sabaka of the Beloit Historical Society expressed his support for a 

sign marking the place of Caleb Blodgett’s cabin in downtown Beloit. He asked the 

Commission to think about possible funding sources.  

 

4. Larry Hansen – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-08 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to repair the 

front porch on the residential structure located at 811 Bluff Street. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendation.  

 

Mr. Hansen explained the projects in more detail to the Commission. He asked the 

Commission to alter the COA to allow him to install 6x6 center posts for supports instead of 

the three 4x4s currently used to support the roof. Commissioner Vater expressed support for 

the change to 6x6 supports. 

 

Commissioner Vollmer asked for clarification on the supporting the 18 foot span on the south 

side of the porch. Mr. Hansen explained that a 2x10 or 2x12 LVL board would be 

sufficiently strong enough to support the roof without the adding a fourth post to the 

structure. 

 

Commissioner Vater asked Mr. Hansen whether or not the wood used would be treated. Mr. 

Hansen stated that he would be using treated wood. He said he may be able to wrap the 

treated wood posts in brown instead of painting/staining. 

 



Commissioner Vater suggested an amendment of the COA to allow for the replacement of 

the 4x4 posts with 6x6 posts and to allow for the installation of the 18 foot, wrapped LVL on 

the south expanse.  

 

Commissioners Vater and Truesdale made a motion to amend the COA. Motion carried, 7-0. 

 

Commissioners Johnson and Vater made a motion to approve the amended COA. Motion 

carried, 7-0. 

 

5. Angus-Young Associates – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-06 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to replace 

the ramp and sidewalk at the entrance of Campbell Hall located on the Beloit College 

campus at 700 College Street. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendation. 

 

Commissioner Blazer noted that the Site Visit Committee observed no issues when they 

visited the subject building. 

 

Commissioners Truesdale and Vollmer made a motion to table to the COA. Motion carried, 

6-0. Commissioner Vater abstained. 

 

6. Nancy Soeurt – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2016-10 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to rebuild a 

dormer on the residential structure located at 816 Harrison Avenue. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendation. 

 

Ms. Souert provided an overview of the history of her home and explained that the projects 

being requested in the COA application are to fix a number of issues caused by a prior 

contractor. She stated that she has worked with the contractor, InSite Consulting Architects 

of Madison, before and has confidence in the quality of their work. She also stated her intent 

to rehabilitate the other three dormer windows on the structure within the next few years. 

 

Commissioner Vater suggested that the Commission add the other three dormers to the COA 

request so Ms. Souert doesn’t have to reapply for a new COA. 

 

Commissioners Vater and Vollmer made a motion to amend the COA to include the 

rehabilitation of all four dormers and to extend the completion deadline to May 17, 2018. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

 

7. Historic District Signage 
Street sign-topper and small sign design finalization. 

 

Mr. Morganroth gave a summary of the different design options received from TAPCO. 

 

The Commission discussed the various options and asked Mr. Morganroth to order signage 

with the font “Benguiat” for the text on the top of the sign and the font “Futura” for the text 



on the bottom of the sign. The Commission also expressed support for the center-justified 

text. 

 

Commissioners Vater and Vollmer made a motion to recommend acceptance of the TAPCO 

proposal. Motion carried, 6-0. 

 

 

8. Turtle Creek Bath House 

Determine next steps and discuss possible options for rehabilitation 

 

Mr. Morganroth recapped the Turtle Creek Bath House visit. 

 

The Commission discussed the minor maintenance issues including plants growing on the 

roof and misaligned rain diffusers that could be fixed this summer. Commissioner Vater 

suggested penning a letter to Parks Director Brian Ramsey requesting that some of the minor 

maintainance issues be addressed as soon as possible. All Commissioners agreed to have 

their name on this letter. 

 

Mr. Morganroth said he would deliver the letter to Mr. Ramsey. 

 

9. Eclipse Neighborhood 

Mr. Morganroth recapped the Eclipse Neighborhood charrette held in April. He then gave a 

brief summary of the Eclipse Neighborhood history. He asked the Commission to consider 

the possibility of designating all or part of the neighborhood as historic district, as the 

Intensive Survey will likely recommend that it be protected. 

 

10. Report on Staff-Approved Certificates of Appropriateness & Activities Since Last 

Meeting 

Mr. Morganroth reported that five new Certificates of Appropriateness had been issued by 

Staff since the previous meeting. A COA for 932 Bluff Street for a new roof, 635 Park 

Avenue for a new fence, 934 Bluff Street for a new fence, and 617 Harrison Avenue for 

chimney tuck-pointing, and 719 Bushnell for chimney tuck-pointing, new storm door, fence, 

gutters and roof. 

 

11. Committee Reports 

Education and Outreach Committee: None 

 

Grant Writing Committee: None 

 

Site Visit Committee: None 

 

 

12. Items for Future Agendas 

None  

 

13. Adjournment 

Commissioners Vollmer and Kaye moved to adjourn at 8:41pm. Motion carried, 7-0. 

 



 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Alex Morganroth, Planner 

 Date Approved: June 17, 2016 



1

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: June 21, 2016 Agenda Item: 4 File Number: COA-2016-19

Applicant: Scott Schneider (City of
Beloit)

Owner: City of Beloit Location: 310 Euclid Ave

Existing Zoning: R-1B, Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-Family
Residential

Parcel Size: .2 Acres

Request Overview:
Scott Schneider, on behalf of the City of Beloit, has submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to
renovate the residential structure located at 310 Euclid Avenue in the City of Beloit. The subject property is located on the
same parcel as the recently demolished structure addressed as 422 Bluff Street. Section 32.05 of the Historic
Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness prior to
the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designated landmark, landmark site, or structure within an
historic district.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 Background Info

o Previously two single-family residential structures located on the lot (422 Bluff St and 310 Euclid Ave).
o 422 Bluff Street demolished in winter of 2015/2016.
o City purchased parcel in 2013.
o As condition of approval for the demolition of 422 Bluff Street, the Wisconsin State Historical Society

(WHS) required that 310 Euclid Ave be rehabilitated.
 WHS did not require that specific rehabilitation efforts/projects be approved by their office.

o Project scope is large due to the significant exterior and interior deterioration.
o City is requesting a COA to perform extensive rehab on the property in order to attract a potential buyer.
o Project specifications will be bid out to regional contractors after a COA is approved.

 Structure Info
o The subject property is located in the Bluff Street Historic District and is classified as a contributing

structure.
o The Queen-Anne style home was constructed in 1895.
o The condition of the structure was noted as “Fair” in the 1981 Intensive Survey.

 Current Condition
o Mild to severe deterioration of features on both the exterior and interior of the structure.
o Wood siding possibly salvageable.

 Project Scope
o Chimney removed
o Re-roof with cedar-colored architectural-style shingles
o New aluminum soffit, fascia, window and door wrap
o New gutters
o Three possible siding options: repair existing, new wood, or cement board
o Corner boards wrapped in wood or fiber cement
o New aluminum clad windows
o Multiple windows to be added or removed to accommodate new interior layout
o New wrap-around style porch on north and east side of house

 Appearance to be substantially similar to current porch
o Back porch to be removed and replaced with new addition
o New steel door to be installed on the rear addition
o New storm doors on front and rear entrances (full view door on front)
o Foundation tuck-pointed and painted
o Four foundation windows to be replaced with vinyl units



2

o Construction of new detached 2.5 car garage with white carriage-style door
 Roof slope of garage will match the house and will have a central ridge

o New concrete driveway will be constructed with ingress/egress on Euclid Ave
o Six new exterior lights to be added to house and garage – hanging wall lantern-style
o Possible additional items include exterior shutters and central air conditioning (A/C unit to be hidden from

view when viewing from Bluff Street)
o Color will match suggested color profile in Historic Preservation book – Pavilion Beige body, white trim,

and Mesquite Wood Accent

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when
evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application. Applied to major projects only.

o (1) Architectural Details:
 The proposed wrap-around porch is compatible with the style and character of the structure.

Wrap-around porches are a common architectural feature of Queen Anne-style homes built in the
late 1800s and early 1900s.

 Wood siding repair or replacement would be compatible with the original architectural details
including materials, textures, and overall look. Cement board would not have originally been used
as a siding material, but would look and feel substantially similar to the wood while providing
more durability and requiring less maintenance.

 The garage and rear addition will match the existing structure in overall look and will not look
substantially different from the original structure when being viewed from Bluff Street.

 The roof pitch and style of the garage will match that of the principal structure.
 The shingles will also be identical to the shingles installed on the principal structure.

o (2) Scale/Relationship of Building Masses and Spaces:
 The proposed size of the detached garage and rear addition will not be out of character with other

buildings in the historic district. Many other properties have one or two car garages. The large lot
310 Euclid Ave now sits on allows for the addition of a garage without the buildings looking
“cramped” on the lot.

o (3) Roof Shape:
 The style and pitch of the garage roof is identical to that of the principal structure.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – The rehabilitation of the

currently inhabitable structure will greatly improve the aesthetic quality of the Bluff St and Euclid Ave corner. In
addition, investing in the property will provide a safe house with modern amenities for a new owner and will
hopefully help spur additional investment in the neighborhood.

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to renovate the
residential structure located at 310 Euclid Avenue in the City of Beloit, based on the standards and criteria contained in
the Historic Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions:

1. The completed work shall be consistent with the scope of work outlined by the applicant.
2. All work shall be done in a workman like manner and be consistent with the standards provided by the Secretary

of the Interior.
3. All work shall be completed by June 21, 2017.
4. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location Map, Application, Intensive Survey, Project Specifications, Photos, COA General Criteria
Checklist



3



4

COA Application



5



6

Intensive Survey - 1981



7

Photos Provided by Applicant



8



9



10



11



12

Site Plan (w/ additions)



13

Site Plan (w/ additions)



14



15



16

Materials Specifications



17



18



19



20

Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 310 Euclid Ave

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance?

Although the footprint of the structure will be changed and multiple new
features added, the alterations would not create an appearance that is
substantially more contemporary.

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X

Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

Only distinctive feature highlighted in the 1981 Intensive Survey is the
hipped roof with cross gables – a common feature on Queen Anne-style
homes.

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

The three siding options – repair, replace with wood, or replace with
cement board will match the existing material in composition, texture,
and other visual qualities.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



21

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

Construction of addition and detached garage will not detract from the district
as a whole. Many homes in the Bluff Street Historic District have multi-car
detached garages. The garage will be visually compatible with the principal
structure including roof profiles, shingles color, and trim/base colors.

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X



CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: June 21, 2016 Agenda Item: 5 File Number: COA-2016-16

Applicant: David and Deborah
Amstutz

Owner: Same Location: 710 Bluff Street

Existing Zoning: R-1B, Single-Family
Residential

Existing Land Use: Single-Family
Residential

Parcel Size: .12 Acres

Request Overview/Background Information:
Devin Hanson submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) to allow the construction of a shed at
710 Bluff Street. Section 32.05 of the Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to
issue a Certificate of Appropriateness prior to the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designated
landmark, landmark site, or structure within an historic district.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 Structure Info

o Located in the Bluff Street Historic District and classified as a contributing structure.
o Constructed sometime between 1878.
o Brass town cottage

 Proposed Shed Characteristics
o To be located on the north property line behind the existing fence in the rear yard (see attached sketch)
o Constructed with wood side panels and uses either a shingled or metal roof (see attached manufacturers

brochures).
o Size to be either 12x16 or 12x20 (applicant is considering two options).
o Applicant plans to side the shed with vinyl siding that matches the existing style on the house.
o Applicant also plans to install matching shingles on the roof.

 The roof of the shed will likely be visible from Bluff Street.
 The attached COA Checklist evaluates this application against the General Review Criteria included in Section

32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in

evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.
(1) Relationship of Building and Masses: The twelve foot tall shed is not overly large and would not

threaten the long-term integrity of the building and mass relationships in the historic district.
(2) Architectural Details: If sided and shingled, the proposed colors and look of the shed will not

negatively impact the original character of this historic property. Owner has stated the intention to
paint the shed to match the house in the future.

 The proposed project meets the standards of Section 32.06(6)(b) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to construct a shed
at the residential structure located at 710 Bluff Street, based on the standards and criteria contained in the Historic
Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions:

1. The shed shall be constructed in a workman like manner.
2. The shed shall be placed on a concrete pad in order to per the City of Beloit Building Code.



3. The shed shall be fitted with siding and shingles that substantially match the siding and shingles on the principal
structure.

4. All work shall be completed by June 21, 2017.
5. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location Map, Application, Intensive Survey Form, Photos, Manufacturers Information, COA Checklist











Photos

S
he

d
in

st
al

le
d

be
hi

nd
fe

nc
e



Shed to be located behind fence



Option #1



Option #2





Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 710 Bluff Street

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use
for a property that requires alteration for use other than for its
originally intended purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character
of a building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any
historic material or distinctive architectural features should be
avoided when possible.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis,
rather than trying to create an earlier or later appearance?

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the
development of a building over time that may have acquired
significance in their own right?

X

Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic
features, or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a
building, structure or site?

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated
architectural features, wherever possible? If replacement is
necessary, the new material should match the material being
replaced in composition, design color, texture and other visual
qualities.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods
that will damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed,
does this design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural
material and is the design compatible with the size, scale, color,
material and character of the property and neighborhood?

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner
that if such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future,
the essential form and integrity of the building would be
unimpaired?

The shed is on skids (not visible) and can moved or taken off
property very easily.

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



1

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: June 21, 2016 Agenda Item: 4 File Number: COA-2016-08

Applicant: Harold Pann Owner: Michael Longlois Location: 825 Park Ave

Existing Zoning: R-1B Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-Family
Residential

Parcel Size: .21 Acres

Request Overview:
Harold Pann has submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to rehabilitate the front porch and remove
the rear deck on the residential structure located at 825 Park Avenue in the City of Beloit. Section 32.05 of the Historic
Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness prior to
the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designated landmark, landmark site, or structure within an
historic district.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 Structure Info

o Subject property located in the College-Park Historic District.
o Queen Anne-style, built in 1890, and classified as a contributing structure in the 1981 Intensive Survey.
o Structure has maintained a fair degree of historic integrity, with the addition of vinyl siding being the only

major alteration.

 Current Condition
o The porch has deteriorated significantly including rotting or loose wood decking, loose PVC stair railings,

and rotting stair treads.
o The wood railing around the entire porch is still structurally sound but is loose due it not being reattached

to the house when the vinyl siding was installed.
o PVC skirt panel on north side of porch is falling off and is not compatible with the historic character of the

structure.

 Project Scope
o Replacement of existing wood deck with treated tongue and groove wood slats.
o Removal of PVC railings.

 To be replaced by custom designed treated wood railings, balusters, and posts. See drawings
attached to this report.

o Removal of existing stair treads.
 To be replaced with new treated wood deck boards.

o Removal of PVC skirt panel.
 New treated wood lattice panel to be installed in place.

o Elevated rear deck to be removed and replaced with concrete patio slab.
 Deck is not original and takes away from the character of the rear portico.
 Owner will be removing deck himself.
 Porch columns extend all the way to the ground.
 New concrete patio slab will be poured around the columns in the location of the existing patio

located under the deck.
o Installation of a 4x4 post on both sides of porch where railing and balusters meet the house. Attaching the

existing railings to new 4x4s (to be painted white match) will significantly strengthen them.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when
evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.



2

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

o (1) Architectural Details:
 The installation of new wood railings and balusters will be a significant improvement over the

current PVC staircase features. Although we don’t know exactly what type of railing existed on
the porch in the past, the wood railings likely match the style, material, and visual qualities of the
originals much better than the PVC.

 Replacement of the PVC skirt panel along the underside of the porch with wood lattice will
provide a uniform visual appearance and will match the existing lattice skirt in material, style, and
color.

 Removal of the non-original elevated rear deck will improve the visual quality of the back of the
house by exposing the rear portico columns and drawing attention to the unique architectural
details of the porch.

o (2) Scale
 The new profile of the staircase (smaller) will allow the new railings to better line up with the porch

columns and will be a reversion to the staircases original size.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness rehabilitate the front
porch and remove the rear deck on the residential structure located at 825 Park Avenue in the City of Beloit, based on the
standards and criteria contained in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions:

1. The railings, balusters, and steps should be stained or painted to match the existing color-scheme on the porch.
2. The new wood lattice skirt shall be painted to match the existing lattice work on the front of the porch.
3. The rear portico must not be altered in any way during the removal of the deck and installation of the concrete

patio.
4. All work shall be done in a workman like manner and be consistent with the standards provided by the Secretary

of the Interior.
5. All work shall be completed by June 21, 2017.
6. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location Map, Application, Intensive Survey, Photos, COA General Criteria Checklist



3



4



5



6



7



8



9

Photos Provided by Applicant



10

PVC railings to
be replaced

Wood decking
to be replaced

Stair treads to
be replaced

PVC skirt panel
to be replaced
with wood lattice

4x4 post to be added
in order to secure
porch railing/balusters



11

Entire deck to be
removed

Columns to be
extended to
ground



12



13

Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 825 Park Avenue

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance? X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X

Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

X X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



1

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: June 21, 2016 Agenda Item: 7 File Number: COA-2016-15

Applicant: Matthew Ruch Owner: Matthew and Joanne Ruch Location: 822 Park Avenue

Existing Zoning: R-1B, Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-Family
Residential

Parcel Size: .24 Acres

Request Overview:
Matt Ruch has submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to perform multiple rehabilitation projects
including but not limited to tuck-pointing, storm window installation, garage door replacement, shutter replacement, and a
variety of other projects, on the residential structure located at 822 Park Avenue. Section 32.05 of the Historic
Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness prior to
the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designated landmark, landmark site, or structure within an
historic district.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 Structure Info

o Subject property is a contributing structure located in the College-Park Historic District.
o Georgian Revival style and constructed in 1915.
o High level of historic integrity remaining and with limited alterations in the past.

 Current Condition
o Some deterioration of mortar on the main structure exterior walls and chimney.
o Concrete railing and pillar in front yard have some light deterioration and discoloration.
o Sunken pillar on the carport.
o Rotted shutters (removed due to safety).
o Main garage doors rotted and crumbling.
o Multiple basement windows deteriorated beyond repair.
o Some windows missing storms/screens.

 Project Scope – The applicant has applied for and received approval to participate in the Income Tax Credit
program from the Wisconsin Historical Society (WHS). WHS approved all projects being considered in this COA
request. WHS applies the Secretary of the Interiors Standards for Rehabilitation when reviewing projects. The
following projects include all exterior alterations that were reviewed and approved by WHS.

o Replacement of multiple basement windows with new Jeldwen wood windows.
o Install egress window in SW window opening in order to provide exit from basement.
o Reglaze multiple basement windows.
o Installation of 15 combination aluminum storm windows in windows that do not have any storms or

screens. Applicant would also like permission to change out other existing storm windows with the flush-
mount style storms.

o Install new shutters that will match the previously installed shutters in style and material (wood).
o Replace the main garage doors and the man door on the carriage house (project already completed).
o Straighten out driveway so as to make it perpendicular to Park Avenue.
o Repair the sunken pillar on the carport by lifting to proper height and installing a new footing.
o Perform tuck-pointing in multiple locations on exterior walls and chimney.
o Cosmetic restoration of concrete railing and pillars in front yard.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when
evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.



2

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

o (1) Architectural Details:
 All projects being considered in this COA have been found to be compatible with the original

architectural style or character of the landmark. The applicant is using identical materials, colors,
and styles for replacement features and is repairing deteriorated features with methods
recommended by the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to perform multiple
rehabilitation projects including but not limited to tuck-pointing, storm window installation, garage door replacement,
shutter replacement, and a variety of other projects at the residential structure located at 822 Park Avenue, based on the
standards and criteria contained in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions:

1. The completed work shall be consistent with the scope of work outlined by the applicant.
2. All work shall be done in a workman like manner and be consistent with the standards provided by the Secretary

of the Interior.
3. All work shall be completed by June 21, 2017.
4. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location Map, Application, Intensive Survey, Project Specifications, Photos, COA General Criteria
Checklist



3



4

COA Application



5



6

1981 Intensive Survey



7

Wisconsin Historical Society Income Tax Credit Application



8



9



10

Project Locations

S
hu

tt
er

s
in

st
al

le
d

on
al

l
w

in
do

w
s

R
es

to
re

co
nc

re
te

ra
il

in
g

R
ep

ai
r

su
nk

en
pi

ll
ar

R
ep

la
ce

ov
er

he
ad

an
d

m
an

do
or

on
ga

ra
ge

T
uc

k-
po

in
ti

ng
B

ri
ck

E
x

te
ri

or

T
uc

k-
po

in
ti

ng
C

hi
m

ne
y

(n
ot

vi
si

bl
e

in
ph

ot
o)

S
tr

ai
gh

te
n

dr
iv

ew
ay

In
st

al
l

eg
re

ss
ba

se
m

en
t

w
in

do
w

(a
nd

re
pl

ac
e

ot
he

rs
)



11

Shutters (before and after removal)



12

Overhead Garage Door



13

Garage Man Door



14

Stormwindows



15

Replacement Basement Windows (x6) – Jeldwen W-4500 Wood Windows



16

Additional Info on Basement Windows



17



18

Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 822 Park Avenue

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance? X
Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X
Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

New wood basement windows shall match the existing in material and
overall look and style.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



1

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: June 21, 2016 Agenda Item: 8 File Number: COA-2016-14

Applicant: Susan Behrens (on behalf
of First Congregational Church)

Owner: First Congregational Church Location: 627 Church Street

Existing Zoning: PLI, Public Lands
and Institutions District

Existing Land Use: Single-Family
Residential (Vacant)

Parcel Size: 1.487 Acres

Request Overview:
Susan Behrens, on behalf of First Congregational Church, has submitted a Building Alteration Permit application for the
demolition of a structure in the College-Park Historic to the City of Beloit Residential Building Inspector. The submittal of
the demolition application triggered a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application to allow for the demolition of the
residential structure located at 627 Church Street in the City of Beloit. The subject structure is located on the same parcel
as the First Congregational Church.

Section 32.07(b) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to either
authorize or refuse a Certificate of Appropriateness demolish all or part of a historic building. The Commission may
refuse to grant a COA authorizing the permit for a period of up to 10 months from the filing of the application, during which
time the Commission and the applicant shall undertake serious and continuing discussions for the purpose of finding a
method to save such property. The application was submitted on May 10, 2016 At the end of the 10 month period, or
March 10, 2017, the Building Inspector may issue a permit to demolish the historic building, without the approval of the
Commission, if:

1. The Commission and owner of the historic building were unable to agree upon a mutually acceptable method of
saving the subject property; and

2. No one has proposed a method of saving the historic building which has a reasonable prospect of success; and
3. There are no funds available from any governmental unit or nonprofit organization for preservation of the historic

building.

See Page 4 for the full text from Section 32.07 of the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Chapter 32).

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 Background Info

o Similar COA request considered in November of 2010.
o Request was tabled so other options could be considered.
o Interior of structure cleaned up in the winter of 2010/2011 with the intent of being mothballed until other

options had been fully evaluated.
o No other record of contact with City since spring of 2011.
o According to applicant, the Church has worked with multiple prospective buyers including both Beloit

College, a member of their congregation, and a daycare, who ultimately decided not to purchase the
property for a dollar due to a variety of factors including maintenance.

 The house has not been openly advertised for sale to the general public.
 According the applicant, this is to prevent the property from being purchased by an absentee

landlord.

 Structure Info
o The subject property is located in the College-Park Historic District and is classified as “Contributing”.
o The Queen-Anne style home was constructed in the 1890s.
o The condition of the structure was noted as “Good” in the 1981 Intensive Survey.
o Extensive alterations

 Front wrap-around porch removed prior to 1981 Survey
 Vinyl siding



2

 New vinyl windows and doors
o Staff submitted an inquiry to Legacy Architecture regarding the subject property in March of 2016

 From Legacy Architecture – “The property at 627 Church Street lacks integrity. Despite being in
the district, the house significant porch and side additions, replacement windows and doors, and
vinyl siding. While it does resemble the original Queen Anne house, it does not have the
necessary integrity to be contributing.”

 Current Condition (according or applicant)
o New roof needed
o Dated electrical and plumbing that no longer meets code
o Interior deterioration due to lack of heat for 3+ winters
o Asbestos abatement
o Insulation needed
o New flooring and some ceilings
o A quote from Draeving Construction, Inc received in July of 2014 estimated a total cost of $296,300 to

rehabilitate the building and bring it up to current code. See Page 15 for the complete quote.

 Findings of Fact: Section 32.07(2) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes standards to be used in
determining whether to issue a COA for any demolition. The Ordinance states that the Commission shall consider
and may give decisive weight to any or all of the following:

(a) Whether the historic building is of such architectural or historic significance that this demolition would be
detrimental to the public interest and contrary to the general welfare of the people of the City and the
State.

The extensive alterations to the house have greatly degraded the historic and architectural integrity of the
building. The opinion of Legacy Architecture also confirms the lack historic features remaining on the
structure.

(b) Whether an historic building which has not been designated as an historic landmark, contributes to the
distinctive architectural or historic character of the historic district as a whole and, therefore, should be
preserved for the benefit of the people of the City and the State.

This house is a contributing structure within the historic district, and the preservation of structure,
regardless of condition, would benefit the public. When considered in the context of the entire district,
demolition of this house would result in a substantial gap along this block. The Bluff Street Historic District
is an example of the negative visual affect a vacant lot can have on the entire district.

(c) Whether demolition of the historic building would be contrary to the purpose and intent of this chapter as
set forth in section 32.01 and to the objective of the historic preservation plan for the applicable district as
adopted by the City Council.

The issuance of a COA to demolish a historic building for financial reasons would be contrary to the
purpose and intent of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.

(d) Whether the historic building is of such old and unusual or uncommon design, texture and/or material that
it could not be reproduced or be reproduced only with great difficulty and/or expense.

The structure could be reproduced, but only with great expense.

(e) Whether retention of the historic building would promote the general welfare of the people of the City and
the State by encouraging study of American history, architecture and design or by developing an
understanding of American culture and heritage.

By preserving the integrity of this block of the historic district, the retention of this house would promote
the general welfare by encouraging study of American history and architecture. If anything, the house
represents an example of how alterations can degrade and negatively affect a historic structure.

(f) Whether any hardship or difficulty claimed by the owner is self-created or the result of the owner’s failure
to maintain the property in good repair.

The deferral of certain maintenance and repairs has led to a long list of necessary repairs, as described in
the attached letter.

(g) Whether any new structure proposed to be constructed or any change in use proposed to be made is



3

compatible with nearby historic buildings or the historic district in which the subject property is located.

Not applicable.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends tabling the Certificate of Appropriateness to demolish the
residential structure located at 627 Church Street in the City of Beloit in order to provide additional time for the
Commission and the applicant to evaluate options for preservation of the structures.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Demolition Regulations, Location Map, Aerials, Applications, Intensive Survey, Letter of Intent, Estimate,
Photos



4

Section 32.07 – Regulation of Demolitions



5



6



7

Aerial (showing with building and with building removed)



8

COA Application



9



10

Building Alteration Permit - Demolition



11

Intensive Survey - 1981



12

Letter of Intent from Applicant



13



14



15

Repair Estimate Provided by Applicant



16

Photos
House before front porch removed – no date



17

Photos

View from Church Street

View from Church Street



18

View from Rear Yard

View from Rear Yard



19

View from Rear Yard

View from Rear Yard



20

Carriage House

View from Church St


	6-21-16.pdf
	5-17-16.pdf
	COA-2016-19, 310 Euclid Ave, Rehab.pdf
	COA-2016-16, 710 Bluff Street, Shed.pdf
	COA-2016-17, 825 Park Avenue, Front Porch Repair.pdf
	COA-2016-15, 822 Park Avenue, Renovation.pdf
	COA-2016-14, 627 Church Street, Demolition.pdf

